SID J. WHITE

JAN 14 199

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,156 (TFB No. 87-26,030 (13D))

By.

JOHN R. TRINKLE, Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

Joseph A. Corsmeier Flørida Bar #492582 Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The grievance committee heard testimony in this matter on November 2, 1988, and unanimously voted to find probable cause on December 7, 1988. The Florida Bar filed its formal Complaint on May 18, 1989, and Respondent filed his Answer on June 5, 1989. The Florida Bar filed an Amended Complaint on February 2, 1990, and Respondent submitted his Answer to the Amended Complaint on March 3, 1990.

The Final Hearing in this matter was held on February 2, 1990, August 3, 1990, and August 14, 1990. The Amended Report of Referee dated October 10, 1990 was filed with this Court on November 19, 1990. (The original Report of Referee, dated September 27, 1990, incorrectly stated Respondent's name.) The report was considered by the Board of Governors at its meeting which ended November 30, 1990. The Board voted to seek review of the discipline recommended by the Referee. The Bar's Petition for Review was filed with this Court on December 17, 1990.

The facts in this case are not contested by The Florida Bar and are as follows:

Respondent prepared a Will for his aunt, Gladys Anderson, in 1980. The Will made Respondent personal representative of the estate, trustee of a testamentary trust on behalf of his cousin, Marjorie Fry, and residual beneficiary of Ms. Anderson's estate. Ms. Fry was to become beneficiary of a trust for her lifetime. (Bar's Exhibit #2).

-1-

The main asset of the estate, at the time the Will was prepared, was a rooming house in St. Petersburg, Florida called the Anderson House.

In April of 1981, Ms. Anderson became ill and was admitted into a nursing home. (T,p.95,L.24-25). The expenses of the nursing home and the 24 hour nursing care rapidly depleted Ms. Anderson's savings. (T,p.96,L.5-22). In October of 1981, Ms. Anderson gave Respondent a general power of attorney to transfer her property. The power of attorney was prepared by Respondent. (Bar's Exhibit #3).

Using the power of attorney, Respondent conveyed the Anderson House to 72nd Avenue Associates, a partnership he controlled. (T,p.37,L.15-19) This transaction occurred while Gladys Anderson was still alive. (T.p.37,L.15-19). The contract for sale of the rooming house provided for a sale price of \$65,160 and provided that financing was to be by a purchase money mortgage and note with five and one half percent (5 1/2%) interest. (Bar's Exhibit #4). No purchase money mortgage was ever executed, although Respondent did sign a promissory note evidencing the debt. The terms of the Contract for Sale of Real Estate provided for interest only payments for five (5) years, and then interest and principal payments for twenty (20) years. (Bar's Exhibit #4). This transaction left Respondent's aunt, Ms. Anderson with an unsecured promissory note and no mortgage. (RR, p.1, Section II (A)).

-2-

Gladys Anderson died in 1983. Ms. Fry later contacted an attorney, Robert Bolton, stating that she had received no payments under the terms of the trust. Mr. Bolton then contacted Respondent who agreed to restructure sale of the rooming house so as to make it more beneficial to Ms. Fry. (T,p.32,L.6-23 and Bar's Exhibit #16-D).

During negotiations to restructure the transaction, Respondent was in contact with Ms. Fry without the knowledge or consent of Robert Bolton and paid \$10,000.00 toward the amount owed pursuant to the restructured settlement. Ms. Fry signed a receipt evidencing this payment. (T2,p.9,L. 6-25 and p.10,L.1-13). (Bar's Exhibits 14 and 15).

After the conclusion of the Final Hearing in this case, the Referee, in his Report, made the following "Findings of Fact of Misconduct":

After considering all the pleadings and evidence before me, I find two (2) areas of misconduct. Except as hereinafter stated I find no other basis for action against Respondent as set forth in paragraph 37 of the Amended Complaint.

I find that Respondent violated DR 5-103(a)(1) Α. and Rule 4-1.8. Without going into great factual detail in this report, I find that when Respondent used his Aunt's Power of Attorney to transfer her property into a partnership he controlled, then to a corporation he controlled, he left his Aunt with an unsecure promissory note and no mortgage; he valued the property for purposes of the note at something less than fair market; he set the interest rate substantially less than the going rate (5 1/2%) and the payment terms were skewed in favor (interest only for 5 his years, then payments for 20 years). This transaction was hardly arms-length or commercially reasonable. While there was some benefit to his infirmed Aunt, there was little or no benefit to her primary

-3-

heir, Respondent's Cousin (Marjorie Fry) but great benefit to Respondent as ultimate beneficiary under his Aunt's Will. Respondent recognized his over-reaching and improper conduct when, several years later, he agreed to renegotiate this transaction at a higher value, higher interest rate and quicker pay-out, so as to provide more benefits for his Cousin under the trust provisions of his Aunt's Will.

I find that Respondent violated Rule 4-4.2. в. During that later part of 1987, Respondent's Cousin, Marjorie Fry, retained an attorney, Robert Bolton. In December, 1987, Respondent met with cousin substantial his and made payments (\$10,000.00)to her directly, knowing she was represented by counsel. He had her sign a receipt which he prepared. This transaction was done without the knowledge or consent of Ms. Fry's attorney. Respondent did not advise Mr. Bolton of this payment for some months. Even though it was "family" and even though Ms. Fry was not injured by the payment, Respondent's conduct violated the aforementioned Rule 4-4.2.

The Florida Bar does not challenge the Referee's findings of fact. However, The Bar does seek review of the Referee's recommended discipline as the Referee's recommendation of an admonishment is inappropriate according to Rule 3-5.1(b) and 3-7.6(k)(1)(3), Rules of Discipline, the facts herein, and under the current standards for imposing lawyer sanctions.

-4-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation of an admonishment in this case is inappropriate in light of Rule 3-5.1(b) and 3-7.6(k)(1)(3), Rules of Discipline.

Procedurally, an admonishment (formerly private reprimand) is not appropriate because Rule 3-5.1(b), Rules of Discipline, states that minor misconduct is the only type of attorney misconduct for which an admonishment is an appropriate discipline. Further, Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(3), Rules of Discipline, states, in part, that an admonishment may be recommended by the Referee only in cases based on a Complaint of Minor Misconduct. The case on review is not based on a Complaint of Minor Misconduct. It is based on a probable cause Complaint. The grievance committee found probable cause that the attorney violated disciplinary rules and did not exercise its option to find minor misconduct. Therefore, an admonishment is procedurally inappropriate.

Additionally, the facts in the instant case are sufficient to warrant a public reprimand and an admonishment is an inappropriate sanction based on the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The Florida Bar asks this Court to disapprove the Referee's recommendation of an admonishment and impose a public reprimand against the Respondent.

-5-

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER AN ADMONISHMENT IS APPROPRIATE WHERE THE RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN A CONFLICT OF INTEREST, COMMUNICATED DIRECTLY WITH A PERSON REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL, AND WHERE THE MINIMUM SANCTION ENUMERATED BY THE RULES OF DISCIPLINE IN A CASE BASED UPON PROBABLE CAUSE AND NOT MINOR MISCONDUCT IS A PUBLIC REPRIMAND.

The Bar submits that a Referee, on his own initiative, is not authorized by the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar to recommend that an attorney be admonished in a case where probable cause is found by a grievance committee. Rule 3-5.1(b) clearly states that "minor misconduct is the only type of misconduct for which an admonishment is an appropriate disciplinary sanction". This is reiterated by states that a Referee Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(3) which may recommend an admonishment only in cases based upon minor misconduct.

The present Rules Regulating The Florida Bar divide complaints for misconduct into two separate categories: minor misconduct findings to be handled by the filing of a Complaint of Minor Misconduct and probable cause findings to be handled by the filing of a formal Complaint. In the instant case, there was no finding of minor misconduct by the grievance committee and this was not a Complaint of Minor Misconduct based upon the Respondent's or the Board's rejection of the minor misconduct report.

-6-

While previously a Referee could recommend an admonishment (private reprimand), the current rules adopted January 1, 1987, prohibit such a discipline except in cases in which a complaint of minor misconduct has been filed. Rule 3-7.6(k)(1) describes those items to be included in the Referee's report. Subsection 3 of that rules states:

(3) recommendations as to the disciplinary measures to be applied, provided that an admonishment may be recommended <u>only in cases</u> <u>based upon a complaint of minor misconduct</u>. (Emphasis added)

Allowing a Referee in the present case to recommend an admonishment when there was no complaint of minor misconduct filed would ignore the underscored language of Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(3) or at least render it meaningless.

In addition, The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (hereinafter referred to as the Standards), adopted November, 1986 by the Board of Governor's of The Florida Bar would dictate the imposition of a public reprimand for Respondent's misconduct.

Section 4.3 of the Standards (Failure to Avoid Conflicts of Interest) provides that, absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances:

> 4.33 Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in determining whether the representation of a client may be materially affected by the lawyer's own interests, or whether the representation will adversely

> > -7-

affect another client, and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

The Referee found that Respondent had acted improperly in skewing the terms of the sale of his aunt's property to Respondent's himself. actions resulted in injury or violated potential injury to Gladys Anderson and Disciplinary Rule 5-103(A)(1).

Section 6.3 of the Standards (Improper Communications with Individuals in the Legal System) provides that, absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances:

6.32 A public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in determining whether it is proper to engage in communication with an individual in the legal system, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or interference or potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding.

The Referee found that Respondent knowingly communicated with Ms. Fry while she was represented by counsel, a violation of Rule 4-4.2.

The instant case is not a situation involving a single act of misconduct on the part of the attorney, but rather a combination of acts. Considering the Respondent's violations together, and the potential injury to Ms. Fry, Respondent's misconduct is not minor or insignificant. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kirkpatrick</u>, 567 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1990), This Court held that a private reprimand (admonishment) is

-8-

the appropriate disciplinary sanction only for the most insignificant of offenses.

Thus, for the previously stated reasons, the appropriate discipline, both procedurally and substantively, is a public reprimand. The Rules of Discipline prohibit the recommendation of an admonishment except in minor misconduct cases and the facts in the instant case are sufficient to support the imposition of a public reprimand.

CONCLUSION

An admonishment inappropriate where the Respondent has engaged in conflict of interest and communicates with a person represented by counsel and a public reprimand is the minimum sanction enumerated by the Rules of Discipline in a case based upon probable cause.

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully request that this Honorable Court review the Referee's recommendation and order a public reprimand.