IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant

CASE NO. 74,156

TFB No. 87-26,030(13D)

JOHN R. TRINKLE,

VS

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

DAVID A. MANEY, ESQUIRE MANEY, DAMSKER & ARLEDGE, P.A. Post Office Box 172009 606 East Madison Street Tampa, Florida 33672-0009 (813) 228-7371 Fla. Bar No. 092312

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee found that Respondent's conduct in 1983 violated not only DR 5-103(A)(1), Code of Professional Resposibility, but also Rule 4-1.8, Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar did not become effective until three (3) years later. Thus, the Respondent cannot have been guilty of violating a Rule which did not even exist at the time of his conduct.

The Referee clearly had the power under the Code of Professional Responsibility to recommend a private reprimand for conduct he found violative of DR 5-104(A)(1).

The Referee also found that the Respondent was guilty of violating Rule 4.4-2, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, for communicating with his cousin, who was represented by counsel, at a time when the Respondent was a party to the involved proceeding.

Because of the technical nature of the violation of Rule 4.4-2, which, if taken alone would be no more than minor misconduct, the Referee also had the power to recommend an admonishment with respect to that conduct.

Ultimately, this Court must make the final decision with respect to the quality of the sanction to be imposed as a result of the Referee's finding of guilt. However, this Court must not be deprived of the insight of the Referee who was present at the

-8-

entire proceeding, and had the opportunity to become acquainted with all of the elements which produced the decision to recommend a private reprimand.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE WAS WITHIN THE EXERCISE OF HIS POWER TO RECOMMEND "ADMONISHMENT" BASED ON THE EVIDENCE BEFORE HIM.

Α.

Punishment of the Respondent Under Post-1987 Rules for Conduct in 1984 Would Violate the Prohibition Against <u>ex post facto</u> Laws.

With respect to the Referee's finding that Mr. Trinkle violated DR 5-103(A)(1), Code of Professional Responsibility, and Rule 4-1.8, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, the acts involved all occurred before the effective date of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, which were adopted by the Supreme Court of Florida July 17, 1986, effective January 1, 1987. <u>Rules Regulating The Florida Bar</u>, 494 So.2d 977, at 978 (Fla. 1986).

Indeed, review of the Complaint filed by the Florida Bar reveals that at the time it filed the complaint the Florida Bar was not of the opinion that Mr. Trinkle could be charged with violation of Rule 4-1.8. This conclusion is obvious from the fact that Mr. Trinkle was not charged with violation of Rule 4-1.8.

-10-

Accordingly, the Referee's finding with respect to Rule 4-1.8, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, should be disregarded as being without legal or factual basis.

However, the Referee did find that the conduct of Mr. Trinkle violated DR 5-103(A)(1), Code of Professional Responsibility, the antecedent Code to the Rules Regulating The Florida specifically, the Rule which was the Bar, and predecessor to currently existing Rule 4-1.8, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Mr. Trinkle does not take issue with the Referee's inherent power to have made that determination. The regulation governing the conduct of lawyers before January 1, 1987 is one with respect to which Mr. Trinkle was required to conform his conduct before January 1, 1987, and if the Referee's recommendation as to punishment for his violation be accepted by this Court, then Mr. Trinkle must be sanctioned for the violation in accord with the penalties which were then in Any other result would violate the Constitutional existence. prohibition against ex post facto laws.

Accordingly, the narrow issue before this Court with respect to the findings of the Referee under II.A. is whether or not having found that Mr. Trinkle violated DR 5-103(A)(1), the Rule which then governed Mr. Trinkle's conduct, the Referee could make a recommendation for private reprimand, a sanction which was available before January 1, 1987 for violation of that Disciplinary Rule. The Referee correctly resolved the issue in favor of Mr. Trinkle because at the time Mr. Trinkle was engaged

-11-

in conduct which the Referee characterized as violative of DR 5-103(A)(1), the Integration Rule of the Florida Bar contemplated the power of the Referee to make any recommendation which was available under the Integration Rule. Rule 11.06, "Trial by Referee," Sec. 9, <u>Integration Rule of The Florida Bar</u>; Rule 11.10, "Discipline by Supreme Court," Sec. 3, <u>Integration Rule of The Florida Bar</u>.

Obviously, as appears from Rule 11.10: "Discipline by Supreme Court," Sec. 2, this Court was then, as now, the ultimate arbiter of whether or not a private reprimand would be appropriate discipline for a violation of a Disciplinary Rule.

However, to suggest, as has the Florida Bar, that the Referee today has been divested of his power to make a recommendation by virtue of a Rule which was not in existence at the time of the alleged offense is to ignore the <u>ex post facto</u> effect of the argument.

Rule 3-7.6. "Procedures Before а Referee," Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, is a procedural Rule, but it is a procedural with substantive effect. If the Bar's Rule contention is correct, then the adoption of that Rule changed the existing law by eliminating the power of a Referee to make a recommendation of a private reprimand unless a Grievance Committee has previously determined that the matter as to which probable cause has been established is one warranting minor misconduct.

-12-

This type of change can hardly be characterized as procedural; it is obviously a substantive change, because it increases the minimum amount of punishment which may be imposed upon a lawyer.

A lawyer who was found guilty of a violation of DR 5-103(A)(1) before January 1, 1987, would be entitled to have the Referee who heard his case make a recommendation of private reprimand if the Referee felt in the exercise of his discretion that such a recommendation was appropriate.

The Bar's contention with respect to this case is that the Referee no longer has the power to make a recommendation of a private reprimand. The implication of this contention is that the punishment upon a finding of probable cause and a subsequent finding of guilt has been increased, effective January 1, 1987, by virtue of the adoption of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, for conduct before January 1, 1987.

This is the equivalent of imposition of an <u>ex post facto</u> punishment. The Bar contends that the punishment for conduct in 1983 or 1984 may be increased by virtue of the adoption of a new set of Rules in 1987, a position which is not supported by law.

The case of <u>Wilner v. Department of Professional</u> <u>Regulation</u>, 563 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) is on point. Before 1986, Sec. 458, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> permitted a maximum administrative fine for violation of Sec. 458.331(1) in the amount of \$1,000 per violation. However in 1986, that Section was amended to increase the amount of maximum administrative fine from \$1,000 per violation to \$5,000 per violation.

-13-

Dr. Wilner was found guilty under the statute by the Department of Professional Regulation of conduct which occurred before the effective date of the 1986 amendment. However, the fine which was imposed was imposed by virtue of the amended provision of the Section. The effect was that instead of finding Dr. Wilner should have been fined only \$1,000 per violation, he was subjected to a fine of \$5,000 per violation. The punishment had been increased.

On appeal, Dr. Wilner contended that the increase in punishment imposed upon him was a violation of the <u>ex post facto</u> provisions of the State and Federal Constitutions. The First District Court of Appeal, following this Court's decision in <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Scherer</u>, 558 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1990), agreed. The same principle is operative here: Mr. Trinkle was found guilty of conduct which occurred in 1983, a date which was before the effective date of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, whose provisions afford the basis for the assertion by the Florida Bar of the limitation on the ability of the Referee to recommend a private reprimand. To accept the Florida Bar's position would be contrary to the principles in Wilner v. Department of Professional Regulation, supra.

While this Court is not controlled by a determination made by the First District Court of Appeal, that Court's invocation of <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Scherer</u>, <u>supra</u>, as authority for its disposition is persuasive. The only distinction between the two cases is that this Court's decision

-14--

in <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Scherer</u>, <u>supra</u>, involved a civil proceeding, rather than an administrative or quasi-criminal proceeding, such as now pends before this Court with respect to Mr. Trinkle.

In <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v. Scherer</u>, <u>supra</u>, the plaintiff's injuries were the result of an act of malpractice which occurred in June, before the effective date in 1980 of Sec. 768.56, the statutory section which formed the basis for the plaintiff's action. She was granted a substantive right by that statutory section by way of entitlement to attorney's fees which she did not have as of the date of the accrual of her cause of action.

This Court held that to permit her to recover for attorney's fees by virtue of a statute giving her a right which did not exist at the time of the conduct complained of would be a violation of State and Federal prohibitions against <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> laws, citing <u>Morales v. Scherer</u>, 528 So.2d l (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

This Court must therefore reject the argument of the Florida Bar that the Referee has no power to make a recommendation of private reprimand since the conduct of which Respondent was found guilty is conduct which occurred at a time when the Referee had that power. To limit the power of the Referee under the guise of recognizing a new procedure, when in fact the limitation would be a substantive limitation on the power of a Referee to make a recommendation, would be a

-15-

violation of the <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> laws of the Constitutions of this State and of the United States.

в.

The Bar's Interpretation of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar Must be Considered Because the Referee's Finding That Mr. Trinkle Violated Rule 4.4-2, Where That Conduct, a Communication with a Party Represented by an Attorney, Took Place in 1987, After the Effective Date of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

As noted above, Mr. Trinkle's contact with his cousin, Ms. Fry, was a contact which was essentially initiated by or on her own behalf. Mr. Trinkle was a party to the proceeding, and was communicating with a cousin with whom he had more than thirty-five years experience.

These facts were undoubtedly uppermost in the Referee's mind when he made the recommendation he did with respect to a private reprimand.

Nonetheless, the Bar wishes to strictly interpret the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar by contending that Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(3) limits the power of a Referee to make a recommendation of punishment. That Rule provides in relevant part that a Referee may make:

> recommendations to the ...(3) as applied, be disciplinary measures to an admonishment may be provided that in cases based on a only recommended complaint of minor misconduct;

> > -16-

To so read the Rule would limit the power of this Court to determine the nature of the discipline ultimately to be imposed on the errant lawyer, since this Court would never have the benefit of the Referee's recommendation of a lesser punishment if the Referee should disagree with a Grievance Committee.

This Court has the inherent power under Sec. 3-5.1(a) "Admonishments," <u>Rules Regulating The Florida Bar</u>, to impose an admonishment if it makes a determination that the Respondent has been guilty of minor misconduct, no matter what the Grievance Committee did. There is no rational basis for depriving this Court of the valuable recommendation of a Referee where the Referee, after having heard the evidence, having heard the testimony, and being otherwise completely advised with respect to the proceeding, desires to make a recommendation of a private reprimand.

The argument of the Florida Bar must therefore be rejected because it would permit an admonishment to be administered only in those instances where the Grievance Committee had found the complained of conduct was minor misconduct. The effect of the Bar's recommendation would be even to deprive this Court of the right to impose an admonishment unless it were in the position of rejecting a Referee's recommendation of more severe punishment.

The Rule interpreted as suggested by the Bar would result in a situation where only a Grievance Committee would make the determination of the propriety of an admonishment; never the

-17-

Referee, although perhaps this Court would retain the power to reject a recommendation of a Referee for a higher punishment, and reduce it.

This structure is not warranted by the Rules or by the policies involved.

The finding of a probable cause by a Grievance Committee is not subject to review. Probable cause as to something more serious than a determination of minor misconduct is a matter which must ultimately be determined by this Court after a hearing by the Referee. The finding of the Grievance Committee is the predicate for action by the Florida Bar and the Board of Governors, both arms of this Court for purposes of administering discipline, which eventuates in the filing of a complaint with this Court.

The real question is not if Rule 3-7.6(k)(3) limits the power of the Referee; the real question is whether it should.

This case limns the issue: in a family matter, the Referee considered all the evidence and determined that the violation involved was so technical, so minor, that the conduct of the Respondent had to have been minor misconduct, and made a recommendation accordingly.

The key is not what the Referee did, but whether this Court agrees with what the Referee did. In other words, since this Court clearly has inherent power to make a determination of whether or not a private reprimand should be imposed, there is no reason to limit the power of a Referee to recommend an

-18-

admonition if, after hearing all the evidence, he concludes in good conscience that an admonition is the proper punishment.

The Bar has failed to offer any policy served by limiting the power of the Referee to make a recommendation as he deems fit.

Indeed, this Court may have already ruled on this point. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kirkpatrick</u>, 567 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1990), the Referee tried a case on a Complaint from the Florida Bar which was not designated a complaint for minor misconduct. Nevertheless, the Referee recommended a private reprimand. While this Court held that under the circumstances of that case, a public reprimand was appropriate, it is significant that this Court did not reject the Referee's recommendation on the ground he did not have the power to make it, but on substantive grounds going to the nature of the offense.

This Court should reaffirm the power of the Referee to make whatever recommendations he deems appropriate, and pay to that recommendation the deference it has in the past. In this particular instance, where the recommendation of private reprimand was based upon a violation of an unauthorized contact between a party who happened to be a lawyer and his cousin who happened to be a party, this Court should accept the recommendation of a private reprimand.

-19-

II. THE CONDUCT OF THE RESPONDENT WARRANTS NO MORE THAN AN ADMONISHMENT.

Ultimately, as has been stated, this Court has the power to determine the sanction which is to be imposed on a lawyer who has been found guilty of violating the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar assists this Court in maintaining discipline within the Bar. Thus, its recommendations are useful and functional in an adversary system in presenting views to this Court which may differ from those embraced in a recommendation of punishment by a Referee.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions was adopted by the Board of Governors, not this Court, in 1986 as a codification for the benefit of the Bar at large and particularly for the Board of Governors in fulfilling its duties to this Court by establishing a baseline for action in deciding whether to accept or reject a recommendation made by a Referee.

While the Standards are useful in the guidance of the Board of Governors, and should be given the respect and weight accorded the product of a conscientious body attempting to perform its delegated duties, until those Standards are codified as a Regulation of the Florida Bar, those Standards should be accorded weight, but not deemed dispositive of any recommendation.

-20-

The Referee below was aware of the existence of those Standards when he recommended that a private reprimand be given to Mr. Trinkle. Mr. Trinkle and the Referee disagreed with the Bar's characterization of the nature of the offense. No one, not Mr. Trinkle, and not the Referee, disagrees with the statement made by this Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Kirkpatrick</u>, 567 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1990) that:

> A private reprimand is the appropriate disciplinary sanction when the conduct can be characterized as minor misconduct. See rule 3-5.1(b), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. In other words, a private reprimand is the appropriate sanction only for the most insignificant of offenses.

The Referee applied the standard of this case, for standard it is, to the conduct of Mr. Trinkle, and for the following reasons.

1. Mr. Trinkle was impelled at all times by a concern for the welfare of his aging aunt and the implementation of her desires to provide a home for his cousin, Ms. Fry.

2. Mr. Trinkle used his own funds to pay expenses of the Estate.

3. The conduct as to the violation of DR 5-103(A)(1) involved but a single transaction.

4. The conduct concerning Mr. Trinkle's contact with Ms. Fry, a party, at a time when Mr. Trinkle was also a party, a contact with his cousin, was but a single incident.

5. The conduct was obviously in a familial context.

-21-

6. There was neither potential or actual harm to any client at any time. Ms. Fry, the cousin of Mr. Trinkle, was never a client, and the care Mr. Trinkle directed to his aging aunt clearly demonstrated the lack of potential harm.

CONCLUSION

For a sixty-two (62) year old lawyer, who has heretofore had an unblemnished record to be publicly reprimanded for conduct arising out of his concern for his aging aunt and a cousin who was not his client is to subject him to an unnecessary public humiliation which serves neither him nor The Bar.

The Referee, before whom the entire situation unfolded, correctly recognized that this was not a situation requiring public reprimand. That recommendation should be accepted by this Court, and a private reprimand, no more, imposed by this Court.